IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES SEATON DAVIS,

JAN 20 1987

Petitioner,

WE COURT

vs.

CASE NO.69,677

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Government Center
301 N. Olive Ave. - 9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(305) 820-2150

THOMAS F. BALL III Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida, and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the prosecution and Appellee in the lower courts. In the brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, the manager of a restaurant, was charged with failing to deposit daily business receipts on fourteen different occasions between October 29, 1982 and January 27, 1983 (R211, 650).

Petitioner testified that he took the receipts to the bank and made the deposits, but did not inspect the deposit receipts and thus, could not explain why the money did not show up in the restaurant's accounts. Petitioner postulated that bank tellers had embezzled the money (R531-33, 556, 617).

In its case, the state adduced testimony from a polygraph examiner as to the results of a polygraph administered to Petitioner. Prior to the test, the parties had orally stipulated that the results would be admissible at trial. The examiner qualified as an expert and testified that Petitioner failed the test and answered deceptively to the key questions. Petitioner objected to any questions directed towards explaining the theory and workings of the polygraph on the grounds that the stipulation only addressed the results (R305-06). That objection was overruled (R306-07) and the examiner gave testimony regarding: his qualifications, the theory of the polygraph, a step by step review of the examination in this case, the reliability of the polygraph in general and in comparison with other forensic sciences, the calibration and maintenance of the machine, and exhibited the polygram (R303-318).

At the close of the evidence, Petitioner requested a limiting instruction on the reliability of the polygraph and the weight to be given such evidence (R567-8). The trial judge

denied the request (R568-9) and instead, gave the standard jury instruction on expert witnesses (R635). Both parties argued at length about the polygraph results in closing argument (R585-86, 604-06, 627-28). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged.

On December 12, 1984, a panel of the Fourth District reversed petitioner's conviction. The panel reasoned that while Petitioner's request was negative and argumentative, the trial judge should have given a proper jury instruction on the polygraph evidence because of its "singular importance in a case of this nature."

The en banc court entertained a motion for rehearing . November 1, 1985 that court requested supplemental amicus curiae briefs from the State Prosecutor's Association and the Florida Public Defender's Association. On October 22, 1986, the en banc court reversed the panel opinion and reinstated Petitioner's conviction. The en banc court held that a stipulation to the admissibility of polygraph evidence only waives a party's evidentiary objections as to admissibility and does not preclude attacks on the reliability of the results. It further held that a party is entitled to a limiting instruction on request. However, the en banc court held that Petitioner's request "was not proper" and therefore, the trial judge was not required to fashion a proper instruction. The en banc court relied specifically on Taylor v. State, 350 So.2d 13 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) and Carron v. State, 414 So.2d 288 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982), aff'd 427 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1983). Then, the en banc court certified the following, as a question of great public importance:

WHEN POLYGRAPH EVIDENCE IS ADMITTED BY STIPU-LATION, AND A PARTY REQUESTS A PROPER INSTRUC-TION ON THE SCIENTIFIC UNRELIABILITY OF POLYGRAPH RESULTS, IS IT REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FAIL TO SO INSTRUCT THE JURY?

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner was entitled to a limiting instruction on the reliability of, and the weight to be given, polygraph results. Petitioner's request was a natural response to the state's efforts to bolster the reliability of the polygraph. Moreover, there is nothing in the stipulation which precludes a right to seek, and get, a limiting instruction. The entitlement to such an instruction is supported by the weight of authority from other jurisdictions.

Contrary to the suggestion of the <u>en banc</u> court, Petitioner's requested instruction was proper - it addressed the relevant concerns and was proposed in a flexible manner to make easier the judge's task. The trial judge rejected <u>any</u> limiting instruction because of fear that it would be an indirect comment on the evidence.

Finally, this case illustrates the many pitfalls of polygraph evidence in general and calls for this Court to re-evaluate the admissibility of polygraph evidence in general. This re-evaluation is supported by: the practical concerns in managing the admission of such evidence, the policy implications of permitting such evidence in criminal trials and the recent trend in other jurisdictions.

ARGUMENT

WHEN POLYGRAPH EVIDENCE IS ADMITTED BY STIPU-LATION, AND A PARTY REQUESTS A PROPER INSTRUC-TION ON THE SCIENTIFIC UNRELIABILITY OF POLYGRAPH RESULTS, IT IS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FAIL TO SO INSTRUCT THE JURY

This case involves one of the thorny problems that commonly arise in cases where stipulated polygraph results are admitted into evidence at trial. Simply put, the issue in this case is the extent to which such a stipulation restricts the parties at trial. This issue, then, concerns the extent, if any, that a party can bolster, or attack, the reliability of stipulated polygraph results and, the right, if any, to an instruction regarding the effect of such evidence. The sequence of events in this case, recent precedent from other jurisdictions and the problems inherent in stipulations and polygraph examinations require, at a minimum, that Petitioner was entitled to his properly requested limiting instruction. Moreover, these same considerations call into question the advisability of admitting polygraph evidence in any case.

A. ENTITLEMENT TO AN INSTRUCTION

Ordinarily, this case would be controlled by two basic rules regarding instructions in criminal cases: one, it has long been the law in Florida that the trial judge is obligated to give instructions to the jury on the law applicable to the facts proven at trial. Austin v. State, 40 So.2d 896, 897 (Fla. 1949). See also Matter of Use by Trial Courts of Standard Jury Instructions, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981) (approval of amendments to

instructions does not relieve the trial judge of his responsibility to instruct the jury properly in each case); Shannon v. State, 463 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (it is the duty of the trial judge to give full, coherent and comprehensible instructions on applicable principles of law). There can be no doubt that this issue was prominent at trial - the state's case was entirely circumstantial and the polygraph results were the only direct evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Furthermore, there was the conspicuous testimony of the polygraph examiner (R303-338) and lengthy arguments by both counsel (R585-86, 604-06, 627-28). Secondly, the established rule that a criminal defendant is entitled to an instruction on the law applicable to his theory of defense, see Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981); Johnson v. State, 484 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), is implicated as well. Here, Petitioner's defense was necessarily premised on inculpatory polygraph results. an attack of the Defense counsel's argument is a testament to the importance of this issue to the defense.

Of course, this issue is not so easily disposed - there are other considerations which this Court must weigh:

1. A stipulation to admissibility is not a waiver of right to challenge reliability.

In large part, the problem in this case is the apparent anomaly of a party stipulating to the admission of polygraph results on the one hand, and then, on the other hand, challenging that same evidence at trial by seeking a limiting instruction.

Detective Rios was the state's second witness and was called immediately after the victim.

Petitioner took the stand and wholly denied any involvement in the alleged theft (R527-557).

This raises concerns that criminal defendants could "[have their] proverbial cake and eat it, too." (p.3, Brief of Amicus Curiae, Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association, filed with the en banc court below). Nonetheless, such a view ignores the facts of this case and relevant Florida law.

Initially, much of the theoretical arguments raised in this cause is based on the notion that it was Petitioner who unfairly betrayed the stipulation. If true, this would help support a finding that there was a waiver in fact. However, the unmistakable reality is that it was the state, over Petitioner's objection (R305-06), that sought to, and did, go beyond the stipulation in an attempt to bolster the reliability of the polygraph results. Thus, it was the state that elicited direct testimony from the polygraph examiner regarding: the theory of the polygraph, the extensive qualifications of the examiner, the polygram (the charts used by the examiner to help form an opinion), the reliability of polygraphs in general, and in comparison to other forensic sciences, a step by step review of the "scientific" process used in this case, and the proper calibration and maintenance of the polygraph machine (R303-18). In short, the state wanted, and got, much more than the fact that Petitioner failed the polygraph. This tactic was successfully employed despite the efforts of defense counsel - counsel precisely and repeatedly objected to the state going beyond the scope of the stipulation (R305-07). On these facts, it is hard to see how the state can now be heard to complain about Petitioner's necessary response to limit the effect of this barrage of extraneous evidence introduced by the state. Thus, defense counsel's request was a defensive, responsive action to the state's evidence of reliability of the polygraph. The equitable balance weighs in favor of Petitioner, not the state.

Besides this sequence of events, Florida law supports Petitioner's entitlement to an instruction. First, there is no indication that the stipulation expressly prohibits either party from seeking an instruction. That is, a strict reading of the stipulation does not preclude an attempt to get a limiting instruction.³ A narrow reading of the terms of a stipulation in this context has long been the rule in Florida, see e.g. Moore v. State, 299 So.2d 119 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974) (defendant was allowed cross-examination of examiner regarding reliability of the polygraph machine, but not the examiner's qualifications, by the express terms of the stipulation); State v. Cunningham, 324 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975) (admissions made during polygraph testing regarding crimes other than the one being tested for, are beyond the scope of the stipulation); State v. Fuller, 387 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) (where the stipulation was that if the test results were inconclusive then the results inadmissible, and the results were in fact inconclusive, the state is precluded from introducing pre-test admissions); Brown v. State, 452 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (a pre-prosecution stipulation is construed to waive objection only to investigative use and does not waive objection to use at trial); Anderson v. State, 11 FLW 2509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986, opinion issued December 2,

Interestingly, the state attorney interpreted the <u>oral</u> stipulation broadly in one sense - that it implicitly contemplated admission of extraneous evidence of reliability (R306a) - but narrowly in another sense - that it prohibits an instruction on such evidence (R567-8).

1986) (where stipulation does not specifically limit polygraph evidence to credibility, it will not be so construed), and plainly supports Petitioner's position.

Secondly, the Fourth District (hereinafter referred to as "4th DCA"), correctly analyzed Florida law to the effect that a "stipulation waives any evidentiary objection based upon scientific unreliability which would preclude admissibility but it does not preclude counsel from adducing evidence of scientific unreliability and commenting thereon during argument." Davis v. State, 11 FLW 2238, 2238-39 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986, opinion issued October 22, 1986). The 4th DCA based its conclusion on specific language from Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Fla. 1983):

The use of a polygraph examination as evidence is premised on the waiver by both parties of evidentiary objections as to lack of scientific reliability. The evidence fails to show that the polygraph examination has gained such reliability and scientific recognition in Florida as to warrant its admissibility. The Florida rule of inadmissibility reflects state judgment that polygraph evidence is too unreliable or too capable of misinterpretation to be admitted at trial. However, the court does recognize that the parties may waive their evidentiary objection. (emphasis supplied by the 4th DCA).

11 FLW at 2239. This view is consistent with Florida's historical distrust of polygraph evidence, see Kaminski v. State, 63 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1952), and sensibly demarks the contour of the stipulation as a waiver of objection to the validity of the basic, general theory of the polygraph. State v. Grier, 300 S.E.2d 351, 359 (N.C. 1983). Therefore, a stipulation only eliminates the necessity, or opportunity, for the parties to

establish the foundation necessary to satisfy the trial judge.

State v. Dean, 307 N.W.2d 628, 637 (Wis. 1981). The Supreme

Court of North Carolina put it this way:

The stipulation is, then, based on principles of consent and waiver and does not even purport to deal with the difficult questions respecting the reliability of the polygraph as an accurate means to detect deception. It simply cannot logically be argued that any foundation as to accuracy is achieved by stipulation.

State v. Grier, 300 S.E.2d at 359. Thus, a party reserves a right to challenge adverse polygraph evidence through cross-examination, presentation of witnesses and a limiting instruction unless specifically waived. Delap v. State, supra; State v. Grier, supra; State v. Dean, supra.

2. The weight of authority from other jurisdictions supports petitioner.

The use of polygraphs at trial has engendered a multitude of decisions and commentaries. See State v. Dean, 307 N.W. 2d at 631 n.2. The majority view wholly prohibits the admission of

The following states bar any polygraph evidence: Pulakis v. State, 476 P.2d 474 (Alaska 1970); People v. Anderson, 647 P.2d 354 (Colo. 1981); State v. Antone, 615 P.2d 101(Haw. 1980); People v. Baynes, 430 N.E. 2d 1070 (III. 1981); Penn v. Commonwealth, 417 S.W. 2d 258 (Ky. 1967); State v. Catanese, 368 So.2d 975 (La. 1979); State v. Gagne, 343 A.2d 186 (Me. 1975); Akonom v. State, 394 A.2d 1213 (Md.App. 1978); People v. Barbara, 255 N.W. 2d 171 (Mich. 1977); State v. Anderson, 379 N.W. 2d 70 (Minn. 1985); State v. Biddle, 599 S.W. 182 (Mo. 1980) (en banc); Jordan v. State, 365 So.2d 1198 (Miss. 1978); State v. Beachman, 616 P.2d 337 (Mont. 1980); State v. Steinmark, 239 N.W. 2d 495 (Neb. 1976); State v. French, 403 A.2d 424 (N.H. 1979); State v. Grier, 300 S.E. 2d 351 (N.C. 1983); State v. Yodsnukis, 281 N.W. 2d 255 (N.D. 1979) (admissible only on motion for new trial); Fulton v. State, 541 P.2d 871 (Okla.Cr.App. 1975); Commonwealth v. Brockington, 455 A.2d 627 (Pa. 1985); Rutledge v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 334 S.E. 2d 131 (S.C.App. 1985); State v. Muetze, 368 N.W. 2d 575 (S.D. 1985); State v. Land, 681 S.W. 2d 589 (Tenn.Cr.App. 1984); Robinson v. State, 550 S.W. 2d 54 (Tex.Cr.App. 1977); Odum v. Commonwealth, 301 S.E. 2d 145 (Va. 1983); State v. Frazier, 252 S.E. 2d 39 (W.Va. 1979); State v. Dean, 307 N.W. 2d 628 (Wis. 1981). Rhode Island admits such

polygraph evidence, while a significant minority⁵ allows such evidence on stipulation. Only one state admits such evidence without a stipulation. See State v. Dorsey, 539 P.2d 204 (N.M. But see N.Mex.R.Evid. 707(1983) (putting significant 1975). These results mirror the restrictions on such evidence). traditional judicial skepticism of the polygraph, present since it was first introduced in courts. The only exception to the general prohibition is where both parties have agreed, by stipulation, to gamble on the results. Courts typically approve this limited exception on the basis of either waiver or estoppel the fulfillment of conditions calculated to enhance the and reliability of the polygraph and limit the prejudicial effect of such evidence. See 53 ALR 3d 1005, "Admissibility of Lie Detector Test Taken Upon Stipulation That The Result Will be Admissible In Evidence." 6 Moreover, the commentators uniformly concede that, if polygraph evidence is to be admitted, then a

evidence only as to matters of credibility, <u>Powers v. Carvalho</u>, 281 A.2d 298 (R.I. 1971), and Oregon generally bars such evidence but has left open the possibility that such evidence is admissible by stipulation. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 687 P.2d 751 (Ore. 1984).

The following states allow polygraph evidence by stipulation: Wynn v. State, 423 So.2d 294 (Ala.Cr.App. 1982); State v. Valdez, 371 P.2d 894 (Ari. 1962); State v. Bullock, 557 S.W. 2d 193 (Ark. 1977); People v. Trujillo, 136 Cal.Rptr. 672 (Cal.App. 1977); State v. Sain, 372 A.2d 144 (Conn. 1976); Williams v. State, 378 A.2d 117 (Del. 1977); Codie v. State, 313 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1975); State v.Chambers, 239 S.E. 2d 324 (Ga. 1977); Owens v. State, 373 N.E. 2d 913 (Ind.App. 1978); State v. Losee, 354 N.W. 2d 239 (Iowa 1984); State v. Lassley, 545 P.2d 383 (Kan. 1976); Commonwealth v. Vitello, 381 N.E. 2d 582 (Mass. 1978); Corbett v. State, 584 P.2d 704 (Nev. 1978); State v. McDavitt, 297 A.2d 849 (N.J. 1972); State v. Souel, 372 N.E. 2d 1318 (Ohio 1978); State v. Rebeterano, 681 P.2d 1265 (Utah 1984); State v. Ross, 497 P.2d 1343 (Wash.App. 1972); Cullin v. State, 565 P.2d 445 (Wyo. 1977). This general survey is helpful in a theoretical sense but is not, in the opinion of this writer, complete and abreast of recent trends.

limiting instruction is essential. Note, "The Emergence of the Polygraph at Trial", 73 Col.L.Rev. 1120, 1125-28 (1973); Reid and Inbau, Truth and Deception, at 331; Note, "Polygraph: Short Circuit to Truth?", 29 U.Fla.L.Rev. 286, 304 (1978); F.Inbau, A. Moenssens, L. Vitullo, Scientific Police Investigation, at 169 (1972).

The import of this body of law for this Court is simple - if this Court opts to continue to admit such evidence (see subsection C, infra), then at a minimum a limiting instruction must be given. To hold otherwise is to put Florida in an extreme minority and permit demonstrably unreliable evidence to determine judicial outcomes without any judicial guidance. Fairness and policy demand a more cautious approach.

B. PETITIONER PROPERLY REQUESTED A LIMITING INSTRUCTION

At trial, defense counsel requested the following instruction:

- 1) The polygraph test is based on psychological theories not susceptible to readily available clear cut proof. Numerous factors can influence the validity of polygraph testing, such as the skill of the operator, the emotional state of the person tested, the fallibility of the machine. Factors other than conscious deception can cause deviant autonomic responses. Frustration, surprise, pain, shame, and embarrassment, as well as other idiosyncractic responses incapable of being analyzed can cause autonomic responses.
- 2) The polygraph is not a sufficiently reliable or valid instrument to warrant its use in judicial proceedings unless both sides agree to

This writer has found only four other states that allow stipulated polygraph evidence with no conditions. See Williams v. State, supra (Del.); State v. Losee, supra (Iowa); State v. Lassley, supra (Kan.); Cullin v. State, supra (Wyo.). Technically, Florida is presently in this minority, but the issue has never been raised in this Court.

its use, and even then, it is not conclusive, but is only I piece of evidence entitled to whatever weight it is assigned by the fact finders, you the jury.

3) A mechanical devise cannot substitute for the time-tested, time-tried, and time-honored discretion of the judgment of a jury as to matters of credibility.

Court.⁸ (R567-8). The state attorney "strenously" objected and the trial judge denied the request on the basis that such an instruction "would be an indirect comment on the evidence by the Court which I cannot do" and that the standard instructions and closing argument would suffice (R569).

Initially, a panel of the 4th DCA reversed Petitioner's conviction for failure to give the requested instruction. The panel held:

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