# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

CHARLES SEATON DAVIS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MAR & 1987

CLERK, SUFFEME COURT

CASE NO: 69,677

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DEBORAH GULLER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

###

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

We have abundant confidence that a jury will be able to weigh such facts appropriately as augmented by argument of counsel. There is no necessity for the court to add the great influence of a jury charge on the effect of such actions.

#### Jackson at 985.

The interviews that we had with the Jurors in the Grasso case would seem to refute the often heard comment that the polygrph will replace the Jury or usurp the Jury's functions, or somehow be so prejudicial in its weight and impact that the Jury will disregard all other evidence and go on the polygraph test results alone. Here we have direct proof that, at least in one case, not only did the polyraph test results not usurp the Jury's function but they were able to

## handle it in much the same manner they did all other eivdence in the case.

Tarlow at 969<sup>6</sup> (emphasis supplied), quoting Barnett, <u>How Does a</u>

<u>Jury Veiw Polygraph Results?</u> 2:4 Polygraph 275 (1972).

Given the foregoing substantiation of the trial court's reasonable declination to give the proffered jury instruction, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's recognition that the trial court is not required to fashion a proper instruction, the nonentitlement to a special instruction and even so, the coverage of the subject matter in the expert opinion instruction, Respondent respectfully requests this court to affirm the trial court. Respondent requests that the affirmation of Petitioner's conviction be affirmed on the basis of Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983) wherein this Court holds that "[t]he use of a polygraph examination as evidence is premised on the waiver by both parties of evidentiary objections as to lack of scientific reliability." Id. at 1247, and on the basis of Howard v. State, 458 So.2d 407 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), wherein the stipulation moots the issue of reliability. Further, to hold that if any error occurred, that it is harmless error.

Respondent contends that Petitioner's alleged right to a jury instruction on the reliability of the polygraph test has been met in that the trial court gave the standard jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Tarlow, Admissiblity of Polygraph Evidence in 1975: An Aid in Determining Credibility In a Perjury-Plagued System, 26 Hastings L. J. 917, 956 (1975).

instruction as to the weight to be given to the opinion testimony of an expert witness. A District Court of Appeal in California takes the same position. In <a href="People v. Reeder">People v. Reeder</a>, 65 Cal.App. 3d 235, 135 Cal.Rptr. 42l (3rd DCA 1976) the court held that it was error not to give the standard jury instruction on the "weight and effect of expert testimony." <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 24l. The defendant had unsuccessfully asserted "that the trial court was required to instruct that the polygraph evidence was not to be considered upon the elements of the charged offenses, but only as it tended to prove or disprove the veracity of the subject at the time of the test." <a href="Id">Id</a>. The court held that the expert opinion instruction "must be given sua sponte where expert testimony has been received." <a href="Id">Id</a>. Sub judice, the trial court instructed the jury regarding the weight to be given to expert opinion testimony. (R. 635).

In <u>Poole v. Perini</u> 659 F.2d 730 (6th Cir. 1981) the court did not find error in the trial court's admitting polygraph evidence pursuant to a written stipulation even though the defendant argued constitutional error, the alleged error being that the trial court did not give a requested cautionary instruction. Rather, the instruction, as in the case at bar, was "that they should determine the weight of the testimony of the operator of the lie detector apparatus." <u>Id</u>. at 735. The Court noted that there may have been some error in the given

instruction, but if so it did not deprive the defendant of a fair trial.

#### HARMLESS ERROR

If in fact the trial court did err in not instructing the jury on the reliability of polygraph test results by not having defense counsel redraft the proposed instructions, then such error was harmless. Respondent submits that harmful error should adhere "only when the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230, 232 (Fla. 1979); accord State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). Given the totality of the record and the evidence admitted, the jury instruction as to expert testimony and circumstantial evidence, it cannot be said that the failure to give the requested instruction was harmful error. "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence [or lack thereof] complained of might have contributed to the conviction." Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967). the instant case the Petitioner testified at trial. Had the jury believed his "in person" denial of guilt his acquittal would have been forthcoming. The evidence pointing to the Petitioner's guilt is overwhelming, warranting a confirmation of his conviction regardless of whether this Court finds error in the trial court's refusal to charge the jury as requested. evidence demonstrated that the Petitioner was responsible for

depositing the money with the bank. That on fourteen different occasions the money was not received by the bank as evidenced by the lack of a deposit stamp on the deposit slips. Although the Petitioner points a finger at the bank tellers and/or his boss, no further substantiation or exculpatory evidence was furnished when the Petitioner testified at trial. The evidence against the Petitioner is so overwhelming that if any error occurred by the omission of a particular jury instruction, that such omission did not prejudice the Petitioner. The requested jury instruction would not have enlightened the jury above and beyond the evidence and instruction already before them. Infra at 20-22. Further evidence of harmless error is the decision in Moore v. State, 299 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974) wherein the court affirmed the trial court's admission of a polygraph examination over defense objection that no cautionary jury instruction was given. Defense counsel did not object nor request a special instruction, but nonetheless there was no reversal.

The Supreme Court of Arizona found that failure to give a cautionary instruction regarding polygraph evidence is subject to the harmless error rule. State v. Trotter, 514 P.2d 1249 (Ariz. 1973). Arizona requires certain prerequisites to the admission of polygraph evidence pursuant to a stipulation. One of the requirements is that the judge instruct the jury that, at most, the defendant was not being truthful at the time of the polygraph examination. Id. at 1252.

While we must agree with counsel for the defendant that the court's failure to give such an instruction sua sponte constituted error, we do not feel that it requires a reversal under the facts of the instant case.

- Id. The court noted that the state had "introduced sufficient evidence so that the jury could have convicted the defendant without the testimony concerning the polygraph examination."

  Id. In the case at bar there is sufficient evidence, notwithstanding the fact that the evidence is circumstantial, so that any evidentiary conflicts were resolved by the jury. Sub judice the defense elicited the following negatives upon cross examination of the polygraph expert:
  - a. the machines are callibrated weekly, but other examiners use this expert's machine (R. 321)
  - b. "that the polygraph machines and results are so unreliable that they are not normally admitted into a court of law unless they are stipulated to []" (R. 321)
  - c. that the machine measures adrenal response (R. 321), and adrenal responses are caused by fear of being caught (R. 321) and perhaps to other stimulation (R. 322)
  - d. that this polygraph examiner is not a doctor (R. 322)
  - e. "that a question or an answer to a question could appear to be truthful if the question is asked one way and to be untruthful if asked in a different way []" (R. 323)
  - f. "that a polygraph is only as good as its operator []" (R. 323)

- g. that "[o]utside fears do have some effect on the test[]" (R. 324, 326).
- h. "a polygraph test is just ...
  opinion[]" (R.324).
- i. that different examiners may evoke different responses and hence different results (R. 324, 325).

The defense counsel propounded the following negatives during her closing arguments:

MS. KORTHALS: He tried to take a polygraph to prove his innocence to you. Now, the polygraphs are unreliabe. You've heard testimony that polygraphs are not entered or allowable in a court of law unless they're stipulated to; and, ladies and gentlemen, you stipulate to them before they're taken.

Look at the polygraph. Look at what Detective Rios said, himself, on the stand.

He said, "It's only an opinion." He said, "The polygraph results are only as good as the operator."

He said, "Two different ways of asking a question can get two different responses. Whether you go over them ahead of time or not doesn't clear up every area of fear or every area of misunderstanding." He said that outside fears can influence this.

Now, they can be, according to him, the outside fear of a bigger crime.

How about the outside fear of an innocent man who is not believed?

How about the outside fear of an innocent man going to jail for five years?

How about the outside fear that you know you haven't done anything wrong, and you've been arrested, and you've been put in jail, and you've been brought before judges? I think those outside fears just might have some influence on him.

He said, "It measures fear, not deception." I recall him saying that. Mr. Raticoff doesn't. You all rely on your own recollections.

Mr. Rios told you, himself, that it has happened in the past that a completely innocent person has appeared deceptive on these tests. It happened in the past. It could very easily happen again.

He told you he, himself, had a case where, when he gave the test, the person, knowing he was a policeman, was found to be deceptive. When another guy gave the same test on the same machine but it wasn't known that he was a policeman, the guy came out as honest as anything.

How reliable can this be if that happens?

It isn't reliable. It just is not reliable. It's a machine. It relies on an operator, and it works on psychological principles that can't be measured effectively.

It has many different things that can influence. It works on psychological theories that you can't clearly cut and say, "Here's where we draw the line. Here's the truth, and this is a lie."

Even Detective Rios told you that was a misnomer. Many, many factors can influence the polygraph test: the skill of the operator, the emotional state of the person tested, the fallibility of the machine, itself. I believe surprise, pain, shame, embarrassment, all types of idiosyncratic responses will make that machine jump.

In any event, the results you heard are only one piece of evidence and, I submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, are not a very reliable piece of evidence. I would ask you all not to let this mechanical device

substitute for the time-tested, time-tried and time-honored discretion and job of the jury to make up your own minds about who is telling the truth and who is not in your search for truth, reasonable doubt or justice.

(R. 604-06). Additionally, as noted, the court in <u>Poole v.</u>

<u>Perini</u>, 659 F.2d 730 (6th Cir. 1981) found harmless error where the trial court instructed the jury only "that they should determine the weight of the testimony of the operator of the lie detector apparatus." Id. at 735.

This Court, at present, requires no more than a stipulation between the parties prior to admission of polygraph evidence. Codie v. State, 313 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1975). However, if error is founded in the trial court's actions, then such error should be deemed harmless. The same information in the proposed jury instruction was put before the jury by defense counsel. "These instructions are not crucial to constitutional due process which is insured by [other means]." State v. Renfro, 639 P.2d 737, 740 (Wash. 1982).

#### PROSPECTIVE APPLICATION

Respondent recognizes this Court's task in balancing the equities of this case. Accordingly, it is requested that should this Court determine that a jury instruction is required when parties stipulate to the admission of polygraph test results that the holding be applied prospectively.

[The] unforeseen change in the law and the burden that retrospective application would place on the administration of justice and the need for finality in criminal cases support a holding of prospective application only.

Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9, 18 (Fla. 1985). As in Bundy, the case sub judice involves the admissibility of scientific evidence, and hence, the same judicial concerns regarding a retrospective application of a holding excluding such evidence or requiring additional criteria to its admissibility. The purpose served by requiring a jury instruction as to the reliability of polygraph test results is to instruct the jury as to the weight the expert testimony is to receive, as these tests (if found by this Court) are alleged to be unreliable. As in Bundy, "this purpose [does not] warrant[] the reexamination of unknown numbers of jury verdicts." Id. Further "the apparent reliance of the police on the use of [polygraphs] also clearly weighs in favor of the prospective application of [any] ruling." Id.

The third criterion to be considered is the effect of retroactive application on the administration of justice. There are obvious practical considerations, in addition to the taxing of trial and appellate courts, in denying retroactive application of [any] ruling. Only where there is a denial of a basic right of constitutional magnitude that is correctable will retroactive application be applied. This is not the case here.

Id. The reexamination of Respondent's argument regarding harmless error as to the trial court's ruling should satisfy this Court that evidence against the petitioner was sufficient so that, beyond a reasonable doubt, the omission of a specifically requested jury instruction, albeit an argumentative instruction,

was not the grounds upon which a conviction was based. Had the instruction been forthcoming, this Court should note, nothing additional would have been put before the jury than what was already proffered to them by way of defense counsel's closing argument and her cross examiantion of the expert in conjunction with the standard expert opinion instruction.

Oklahoma recognizes "a general rule of law that decisions of the highest court overruling a prior decision are prospective in application unless specifically declared to have retroactive effect." Walton v. State, 565 P.2d 716, 718 (Okl. Cr. 1977). Application of the court's prior finding of total inadmissibility of polygraph evidence was applied prospectively as the law in effect at the time of Walton's trial allowed admission of polygraph evidence upon stipulation. Consequently that court upheld the defendant's conviction. Accord, State v. Griffin, 621 S.W. 2d 113 (Mo. App. 1981).

As recited the Respondent requests this Court to apply any change in the current status of admissibility of polygraph evidence prospectively. However, this Respondent maintains the validity of using polygraph evidence, especially upon the stipulation by both parties.

Respondent asserts that this Court should, at the very least, maintain the status quo: requiring a stipulation to the admissibility of polygraph test results. The issue presented is not the viability of this rule, but rather, should this Court

promulgate a rule of per se reversal when a proffered, <u>proper</u> jury instruction is refused? The Respondent maintains it is not necessary to give a specific jury instruction as to polygraph evidence, and alternatively maintains that application of the harmless error rule is appropriate to possible omissions.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this Court finds that a party who stipulates to the admissibility of polygraph test results (and this stipulation fails to cover jury instructions) is entitled to a specific jury instruction, the Respondent cautions that an omission may not be prejudicial nor harmful and therefore, to require per se reversal is judicially uneconomical.

To the pessimist/opponent, the polygraph is a half empty glass of water, to the optimist/proponent, the polygraph is a glass of water half filled; however, in order to fully appreciate the benefits inherent in the use of polygraphs, it is incumbent on those affected to analyze the dichotomy rather as relevant, expert evidence. Given the current status in Florida of admissibility upon stipulation, Petitioner's request that this Court totally exclude polygraph test results is the instant consideration. The current status of admissibility within the United States is in flux; not only as to the black and white issue of admissibility or the gray area of admissibility by

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